## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA STATE OF FLORIDA TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA

DCA NO. 9500949 CASE NO. 88,544

## JAMES R. TANNER Appellant

verses

ELLIE M. HARTOG, M.D., ALBERTO DUBOY, M.D. HARTOG AND DUBOY, P.A., and LAKELAND REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER,

**Appellees** 

Appeal from the Second District Court of Appeal

## **INITIAL BRIEF OFAPPELLANT**

KENNAN GEORGE DANDAR, ESQ. DANDAR & DANDAR, P.A.. Post Office Box 24597 Tampa; Florida 33623-4597 813-289-3858 Florida Bar No. 289698

> Attorney for James R Tanner

#

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT			
ARGUMENT:			
I.	TANNER'S LOSS OF CONSORTIUM CLAIM DOES RELATE BACK TO THE FILING OF THE ORIGINAL COMPLAINT AND IS THEREFORE NOT BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS		
II.	A FATHER DOES HAVE A CAUSE OF ACTION EQUAL TO THE MOTHERS FOR DAMAGE RESULTING FROM A STILLBIRTH		
III.	THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE CERTIFIED QUESTION AND HOLD THAT THE IMPACT RULE DOES NOT BAR A CLAIM FOR "NEGLIGENT STILLBIRTH."		
CONCLUSION			
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE			

APPENDIX A: Opinion of June 26, 1996

## TABLE OF CITATIONS AND AUTHORITIES

Abdallah v. Calender, 1 F.2d 141 (3rd Cir. 1993) 14			
Accord Carey v. Lovett, 622 A.2d 1279 (N.J. 1994)			
<u>Bomblier v. Lifemark Hospital of Florida,</u> 661 <b>So.2d</b> 849, 853 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1995)			
<u>Champion v. Gray</u> , <b>478 So.2d</b> 17, <b>18 (Fla</b> . 1985)			
Colandrea v. King, 661 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995)			
<u>Correa v. Maimonides Medical Center</u> , Case No. <b>15-543/92</b> , N.Y. Sup.Ct., Kings Co., June <b>5, 1995 )</b>			
<u>Cox v. Seaboard Coastline Railroad Company</u> , 360 <b>So.2d</b> 8 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978) cert. denied, 367 <b>So.2d</b> 1123 <b>(Fla</b> . 1979) 8			
<i>Dve v. Houston, 421</i> So.2d 701 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982)			
<u>Giardina v. Bennet</u> t, <b>545 A.2d139, 139-40</b> (N.J. 1988)			
Handley v. Anclote Manor Foundation, 253 So.2d 501 (Fla. 2d DCA 1971),        cert. denied 262 So.2d 445 (Fla. 1972)        1,7,8			
Hilsman v. Winn-Dixie Stores, Inc., 639 So.2d 115 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994)			
<u>Hoffman v. Jones</u> , 280 <b>So.2d 431</b> (Fla. 1973)			
<u>Johnson v. Ruark Obstetrics &amp; Gynecology</u> Assocs., 395 S.E.2d 85 (N.C. 1990)			
Kush v. Lloyd, 616 So.2d 415 (Fla. 1992)			
<u><i>McGeehan v. Parke-Davis, 573 So.2d 376, 377 (Fla. 2d DCA),</i> reviewed denied, 583 <b>So.2d</b> 1036 (Fla. 1991)</u>			
Moline v. Kaiser Found. <u>Hosps.</u> , 616 P.2d 813 (Cal. 1980)			

Table of Cites - Continued

<u>New York Central and H.R.R. Co. v. Kinney</u> , 260 U.S. 340, 43 S.Ct. 122, 67 L.Ed. 294 (1922)				
<u>Okeelanta Corporation_v. Bygrave</u> , 656 So.2d 1316 (Fla 4th DCA 1995) 9				
<i>Peters v. Mitchel</i> , 423 So.2d 983 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982)				
<u><i>R. J. v.</i> Humana Florida, In</u> c., 652 <b>So.2d</b> 360 (Fla. 1995)				
<u>Rubensfein v. Burleigh House, Inc</u> 305 So.2d 311 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1974) 9				
<u>Sesma v. <i>Cueto</i></u> , <i>181</i> Cal.Rptr. 12 (Cal. Ct.App. 1982)				
<u>Singleton v. Ranz</u> , 534 So.2d 847 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), reviewed denied 542 So.2d 1334 (Fla. 1989)				
<u>Stern v. Mille</u> r, 348 So. 2d 303 (Fla. 1977) ,				
<u>Tannerv. Hartog</u> , 593 So.2d 249 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992)				
<u>Tannerv. Hartog</u> , 618 So.2d 177 (Fla. 1993) ,				
<u>Tanner v. Hartog</u> , 630 So 2d 1136 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993), review denied, 632 So.2d 1028 (Fla. 1994)				
<u>Tanner v. Hartog</u> , So.2d, 20 F.L.W. D1515 (Fla. 2d DCA, June 26, 1996) ,				
<u><i>T.W., In re:</i></u> , 551 So.2d 1186 (Fla. 1989)				
<u>U.S. <b>v</b>. <b>Dempsey</b></u> , 635 <b>So.2d</b> 961 (Fla. 1994)				
<u>Wilkie v. Roberts</u> , 109 So. 225 (1926)				
<u>Yordon v. Savaa</u> e, 279 <b>So.2d</b> 844 (Fla. 1973) ,				
<i>Zorzos v. Rosen,</i> 467 <b>So.2d</b> 305 (Fla. 1985)				

#### JURISDICTION

The review of the lower decision is within the Supreme Court's jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(v), since the Second District Court of Appeal has certified the following question to be of great public importance:

DOES THE LAW OF THIS STATE SUPPORT A CAUSE OF ACTION FOR EMOTIONAL DAMAGES OF AN EXPECTANT FATHER AND MOTHER. RESULTING FROM A STILLBIRTH CAUSED BY THE NEGLIGENT ACT OF ANOTHER?

This court also has jurisdiction of the remaining issues pursuant to Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv), due to direct conflict with the instant opinion of the Second District Court concerning the statute of limitations with decisions of other district courts of appeal in this state: <u>Peters v. Mitchel</u>, 423 So.2d 983 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982); <u>Dve v. Houston, 421</u> So.2d 701 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), and even the Second District Courts own previously filed opinions in <u>Handley v. Anclote Manor Foundation</u>, 253 So.2d 501 (Fla. 2d DCA 1971), cert. denied 262 So.2d 445 (Fla. 1972) and <u>Colandrea v. King</u>, 661 So.2d 1250 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

This court also has jurisdiction by virtue of the direct conflict with <u>Wilkie v. Roberts</u>, 109 So. 225 (1926); <u>Yordon v. Savaae</u>, 279 **So.2d** 844 (Fla. 1973) and <u>Hoffman v. Jones</u>, 280 **So.2d** 431 (Fla. **1973**), on the issue of whether a father has legal rights in the fetus.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case is before this court for the third time. Presumptively, it will be known as <u>"Tanner V</u>."<sup>1</sup>

In <u>Tanner v. Hartog</u>, 593 So.2d 249 (Fla. 2d DCA 1982), dismissal was affirmed based upon the statute of limitations. <u>(Tanner I)</u>. However, this court quashed the opinion in <u>Tanner v. Hartog</u>, 618 So.2d 177 (Fla. 1993) <u>(Tanner II)</u> and held that the statute of limitations begins to run when there is not only knowledge of an injury, but knowledge that there is a reasonable possibility that the injury was caused by medical malpractice.

In <u>Tanner v. Hartog</u>, 630 So 2d 1136 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993) (<u>Tanner III</u>), review denied, 632 **So.2d** 1028 (Fla. 1994), the Second District on remand from the Supreme Court, held as follows:

 The complaint stated a cause of action on behalf of PHYLLIS TANNER, relying upon <u>Singleton v. Ranz</u>, 534 So.2d 847 (Fla. 5th DCA 1988), review denied, 542 So.2d 1334 (Fla. 1989);

 The complaint did not state or recognize a cause of action for wrongful death of the fetus, citing <u>Stern v. Miller</u>, 348 So.2d 303 (Fla. 1977).
 Thereafter, the Second District remanded this case to the trial court for further proceedings.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The Second District Court in its current decision numerically labeled each Tanner decision. (Appendix A - <u>Tanner v. Hartog</u>, <u>So.2d</u>, 20 F.L.W. D1515 (June 26, 1996). The decision being appealed from the Second District would most likely be known as TANNER IV, while this court's decision would be presumptively known as "Tanner V."

On February 22, 1995, the trial court dismissed Count I without prejudice\*, denied the Motion as to Count II; dismissed Count III with prejudice on the basis of Stern v. Miller, 348 So.2d 303 (Fla. 1977); dismissed Count IV, PHYLLIS TANNER's consortium claim with prejudice since it was derivative of Count III and dismissed Count V, JAMES TANNER's consortium claim with prejudice based upon the statute of limitations, specifically holding that it did not relate back to the filing date of the original complaint. (R. 173-176).

JAMES TANNER appealed from both orders of September 26, 1994, and February 22, 1995, to the Second District Court. PHYLLIS TANNER did not join in this appeal and is currently proceeding in the lower court to trial.

On the current appeal, the Second District Court has held that even though the amendment involves the same occurrence and same parties, the loss of consortium claim pled in the Second Amended Complaint following the appellate process after <u>Tanner III</u> was barred by the statute of limitations since it did not relate back to the date of filing of the original complaint. The court concluded that in applying the test in <u>Tanner III</u>, JAMES TANNER brought his loss of consortium claim after the statute had run and therefore, dismissal with prejudice was affirmed.

On the claim brought by JAMES TANNER in Count III, **Second** Amended Complaint, alleging that the fetus was also his living tissue, the court affirmed the dismissal of this cause of action and held that "the tort is not committed on that living tissue, but rather

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>**PHYLLIS** TANNER has since filed a Fourth Amended Complaint.

upon the mothers body." (Appendix A, p.6) Therefore, the dismissal with prejudice was affirmed.

In reference to Count III of the Third Amended Complaint where TANNER alleged a cause of action for mental pain and anguish unaccompanied by impact or physical injury, i.e., his pain and suffering incurred in witnessing the negligent care and treatment of his wife and the stillbirth of their child, the Second District recognized that in those jurisdictions, similar to Florida, which do not recognize the fetus as a "person" for the purpose of the Wrongful Death Act, those jurisdictions do recognize a cause of action on behalf of both parents for medical malpractice which causes a stillbirth.

After reviewing other jurisdictions which permit both parents to recover damages resulting from a stillbirth, the Second District cautiously held that TANNER's action was barred by the impact rule.

However, the Second District "in abundance of caution" affirmed the dismissal of Count **III** and certified the following question to the Supreme Court as of great public importance:

DOES THE **LAW** OF THIS STATE SUPPORT A CAUSE OF ACTION FOR EMOTIONAL DAMAGES OF AN EXPECTANT FATHER AND MOTHER RESULTING FROM A STILLBIRTH CAUSED BY THE NEGLIGENT ACT OF ANOTHER?

This timely appeal followed.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Since the statute of limitations was tolled upon timely filing of the original complaint, the lower **court** has erred in holding that JAMES R. TANNER's claim in the Second Amended Complaint was barred, TANNER's claim for loss of consortium and other claims are all based on the same conduct and the same parties. Therefore, it relates back to the filing of the original complaint.

This court should hold that a stillbirth of a viable fetus gives rise to a cause of action based upon physical injury, i.e., the destruction of living tissue of both mother and father. The lower court has erred in holding that a viable fetus is the living tissue of only the mother. This conclusion results in a departure from the common law, which recognizes a child as the economic asset of both parents, and further results in unequal treatment of father and mother, since the fetus is comprised of both of their bodily cells.

Finally, this court should recognize, that the tort of "negligent stillbirth" is not barred by the impact rule and affirm the certified question based on similar decisions in other jurisdictions and this court's decision in <u>Kush v. **Lloyd**</u>, 616 **So.2d** 415 (Fla. 1992).

#### ARGUMENT

## I. TANNER'S LOSS OF CONSORTIUM CLAIM DOES RELATE BACK TO THE FILING OF THE ORIGINAL COMPLAINT AND IS THEREFORE NOT BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS.

JAMES TANNER was an original party Plaintiff in the first complaint filed against the doctors and hospital. Upon filing the Complaint, the statute of limitations was tolled as to all claims. <u>Peters v. Mitchel</u>, 423 So.2d 983 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982); <u>Dve V. Houston</u>, 421 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982); <u>Handlev v. Anclote Manor Foundation</u>, 253 So.2d 501 (Fla. 2d DCA 1971), cert. denied, 262 So.2d 445 (Fla. 1972).

Regardless of legal theory, where the claim asserted in an amended complaint arises out of the same conduct, transaction or occurrence set forth or attempted to be set forth in the original pleading, the new claim relates back to the date of the original complaint as provided in Fla.R.Civ.Proc., Rule **1.190(c)**. <u>Peters</u> at 983 and <u>Colandrea v.</u> <u>King</u>, 661 **So.2d** 1259 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995).

In <u>Handley</u>, the decedent's son's claim was filed after the statute had run and the Second District held that it related back to the filing of the original complaint.

The decision in <u>Tanner *IV*</u> holding that TANNER's loss of consortium claim, while a separate and derivative claim, does not relate back to the filing of the original complaint, directly conflicts with the above decisions, including that of the Second District Court in <u>Handley</u> and <u>Colandrea</u>,.

The type of injuries being claimed by TANNER for loss of consortium is the same or similar type of injury, if not identical, as part of the damages he claimed in the original and amended complaint prior to the first appeal. These are the same types of emotional damages he sought as a survivor under the original complaint for wrongful death. The loss of consortium claim in the Second Amended Complaint simply refines the precise nature of the pain and suffering damages alleged in the original complaint.

TANNER's loss of consortium claim involves the same parties and the same occurrence, i.e., the stillbirth. In <u>Peters</u>, the appellant as the personal representative of the decedent's estate, filed a complaint within the statute of limitations. After the statutory period had run, a claim for the minor son of the decadent was asserted. It was dismissed on the basis that the statute of limitations had already run before filing his claim. The Third District reversed that decision since the minor son's claim arose out of the same occurrence or conduct that was set forth or attempted to be set forth in the original pleading.

The Third District in <u>Peters</u> held that the minor son's claim was permitted, even though he was not a party when the original complaint was filed since his claim involved the same occurrence or conduct as set forth in the original pleading,

What is even more interesting is that the Third District pointed out the conflict in the Second District between the decisions in <u>Handley</u>, with that in <u>Cox v. Seaboard Coastline</u> <u>Railroad Company</u>, 360 So.2d 8 (Fla. 2d DCA 1978) cert. denied, 367 So.2d 1123 (Fla. 1979), where in <u>Cox</u> the amendment to the pleadings asserted the minor's own personal injuries in a suit for the wrongful death of his father and the court dismissed the claim stating that it did not relate back to the filing of the original complaint.

8

In <u>Dye</u>, the decedent's widow was joined in a wrongful death action after the statute of limitation period had run. The First District held that her claim related back to the date of the original complaint.

The Statute of Limitations should not be applied against James Tanner for asserting his derivative claim for loss of consortium for the same reasons that it did not apply in the case of <u>Rubenstein v. Burleigh House</u>, Inc., 305 So.2d 311 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1974), where the court held that the defendant was not prejudiced by the amendment adding a proper class representative even though it may have been beyond the running of the Statute of Limitations, because the defendant knew from the filing of the original complaint who the proper parties were and the extent of the claim that was being asserted.

The purpose of the statute of limitations was addressed by Justice Holmes in <u>New</u> <u>York Central and *H.R.R.* Co. *v.* Kinney</u>, 260 U.S. 340, 43 S.Ct. 122, 67 L.Ed. 294 (1922), who said:

> [W]hen a defendant had notice from the beginning that the plaintiff sets up and is trying to enforce a claim against it because of specified conduct, the reasons for the statute of limitations do not exist, and we are of the opinion that a liberal rule should be applied.

As cited in Okeelanta Corporation v. Bygrave, 656 So.2d 1316 (Fla.4th DCA 1995).

The reasoning that the statute of limitations did not apply in *Kinney* nor *Rubenstein* 

nor *Okeelanta* are the same reasons that it should not apply in this case. The Appellees

had notice from the beginning that the TANNERs were setting up and trying to enforce a

claim against them because of the specified conduct of medical malpractice in the delivery

of their child. The first complaints alleged wrongful death and negligence, all concerning the destruction of the fetus as a result of the breach of the standard of care by Appellees.

In the instant action, the Second District is clearly wrong in holding that TANNER's claim for loss of consortium did not relate back to the filing of the original complaint.

Since the statute is tolled upon filing the original complaint and the amendment involves the same conduct, the claim should be held to relate back to the original complaint,

## II. A FATHER DOES HAVE A CAUSE OF ACTION EQUAL TO THE MOTHERS FOR DAMAGES RESULTING FROM A STILLBIRTH.

Tanner urges this court to hold that the fetus is the living tissue of both father and mother. If so, then its destruction is physical injury to the parents, thus the impact rule is not involved.

By holding that the father has no cause of action for a stillbirth, a direct conflict exists with the following cases which hold that a mother and father each have the same rights in their child: <u>*Wilkie v.* Roberts</u>, 109 So. 225 (1926); <u>Yordon v.</u> Savage, 279 So.2d 844 (Fla. 1973) and <u>*Hoffman v.* Jones</u>, 280 So.2d 431 (Fla. 1973),

TANNER's claim for the destruction of the fetus does duplicate his wife's claim. It is based upon the unrefuted scientific knowledge that the fetus is the product of both mother and father. In the opinion below, the Second District relied upon its decision in <u>McGeehanv. Parke-Davis</u>, 573 So.2d 376, 377 (Fla. 2d DCA), reviewed denied, 583 So.2d 1036 (Fla. 1991), by stating that the loss of the fetus is a bodily injury to the woman whose

body suffered the loss. The court concluded that since TANNER cannot argue that the fetus was part of his body, he has no loss. However, is the fetus part of the woman's body or is it living tissue of the mother and father, temporarily occupying the mother's womb? The latter is more accurate.

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