IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES R. TANNER,

Petitioner.

V.

Case No. 88,554

ELLIE M. HARTOG, M.D., ALBERTO DUBOY, M.D., HARTOG & DUBOY, P.A., and **LAKELAND** REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, INC.,

Respondents.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF A
CERTIFIED QUESTION FROM
THE FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT, LAJSELAND REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, INC.

PETERSON & MYERS, P.A.

Kevin C. Knowlton
Florida Bar No. 351156
Stephen R. Senn
Florida Bar No. 0833878
Post Office Box 24628
Lakeland, Florida 33802-4628
Telephone: (941) 683-6511
Attorneys for Respondent,
Lakeland Regional Medical
Center, Inc.

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

Young w. St. Vincent's Medical Ctr, 653 So.2d 499 (Fla. 1st DCA 1995), aff'd, 673 So.2d 482
(Fla. 1996)
Zell v. Meek, 665 So.2d 1048 (Fla. 1995)
Federal Cases
<pre>Moragne v. States Marine Lines, Incc., 398 U.S. 375, 90 S.Ct. 1772 (1970)</pre>
Atlee v. Laird, 347 F.Supp. 689 (E.D. Pa. 1972), aff'd 411 U.S. 911, 93 S.Ct. 1545, 36 L.Ed.2d 304 (1973)
Fossler v. Blair, 90 F.Supp. 577 (S.D. Fla. 1950) 39
<pre>Hunter v. United States, 739 F.Supp. 569 (M.D. Fla. 1990) 39</pre>
Simon v. United States, 438 F.Supp. 759, (S.D. Fla. 1977)
Cases From Other States
<u>Kuhnke v. Fisher</u> , 210 Mont. 114, 683 P.2d 916 (1984) 15
<u>Drabbels v. Skellv Oil Co.,</u> 155 Neb. 17, 50 N.W.2d 229 (1951)
Madden v. Creative erv., Inc., 84 N.Y.2d 738, 646 N.E.2d 780 (1995)
<u>Murphy v. American Home Products Corp.</u> , 58 N.Y.2d 293, 448 N.E.2d 86 (1983)
<pre>Krishnan v. Sepulveda, 916 S.W.2d 478 (Tex. 1995)</pre>
Florida Coartitutioa
Article II, Section 3 , ,
Statutes and Rules of Procedure
Florida Statutes Section 2.01 ,
Florida Statutes Section 95 11(4)(b)

Florida Rule of Civil Procedure $1.190(c)$
Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.210
Medical Malpractice Reform Act of 1975, Ch. 75-9, 1975 Fla. Laws 13
Comprehensive Medical Malpractice Reform Act of 1985, Ch. 85-175, 1985 Fla. Laws 1180
Tort Reform and Insurance Act of 1986, Ch. 86-110, 1986 Fla. Laws 695
Health Care Reform Act of 1992, Ch. 92-33, 1992 Fla. Laws 238
Health Care and Insurance Reform Act of 1993, Ch. 93-129, Fla. Laws 657
Law Review Articles
Kelly F. Bates, Cesarean Section Epidemic DefinSoluthe Problem Aproaching ions, 4 B.U. Pub. Int. L.J. 389 (1995)
Alexander M. Bickel & Harvey H. Wellington, Lesislative Process and the Judicial Process: The Lincoln Mills Case, 71 Harv. L.Rev. 1 (1957)
T. A. Borowski, Jr., <u>No Liability for the Wrongful Death of Unborn ChildrenThe Florida Legislatur</u> Frequence to Protect the Unborn, 16 Fla. St. U.L. Rev. 835 (1988) 29
Charles D. Breitel, <u>The Lawmakers</u> , 65 Colum. L.Rev. 749 (1965)
Frank H. Easterbrook, <u>Stability and Reliance</u> <u>in Judicial Decísions</u> , 73 CornellL.Rev 422 (1988)
Samuel Estreicher, <u>Judicial Nullification:</u> <u>Guido Calabresi's Uncommon Commor Law</u> <u>for a Statutory Age</u> , 57 N.Y. U.L. Rev. 1126 (1982) 18, 22
Pamela Burch Fort, et al., Florida's Tort Reform: Response to a Persistent Problem, 14 Fla. St. U.L.Rev. 505 (1986)

John	French, <u>Florida Departs from Tradition:</u> The <u>Leaislative</u> <u>Respose to the Medical</u>
	Malpractice Crisis, 6 Fla. St. U.L. Rev. 423 (1978) 24
F. T	ownsend Hawkes, <u>The Second Reformation:</u> <u>Florida's Medical Malpractice Law</u> , 13 Fla. St. U.L. Rev. 747 (1985)
Micha	nel Herz, <u>"Do Justice, "I, Variations of a</u> Thrice-Told Tale, 82 Va. L.Rev. 111 (1996)
Judit	th S. Kaye, <u>Brennan Lecture, State Courts at the Dawn of a New Century: Common Law Courts Reading</u> Statutes and Constitutions, 70 N.Y. U.L.Rev. 1 (1995) 19
Hans	A. Linde, <u>Monsanto Lecture, Courts and Torts:</u> "Public_Policy" without Public Politics?, 28 Val. L.Rev. 821 (1994)
Corne	elius J. Peck, <u>Mason Ladd Lecture: Comments on</u> <u>Judicial Creativity,</u> 69 Iowa L.Rev. 1 (1983) 18, 25
Corne	elius J. Peck, <u>The Role of the Courts and</u> Leaislatures in the Reform of Tort Lar; 48 Minn. L.Rev. 265 (1963)
Bruce	D. Platt, <u>A Summary of the Health Care and Insurance Reform Act of 1993: Florida Blazes the Trail</u> , 21 Fla. St. U.L. Rev. 483 (1993) 24
Gail	A. Robinson, Midwifery and Malpractice Insurance: A Profession Fiahts for Survival, 134 U. Pa. L. Rev. 1011 (1986)
Gary	T. Schwartz, The Beginning and the Possible End Of the Rise of Modern American Tort Lay 26 Ga. L.Rev. 601 (1992)
Harla	an Fiske Stone, <u>The Common Law in the United States</u> , 50 Harv. L.Rev. 4 (1936)
Steph	nen D. Sugarmen, <u>Taking Advarnage of</u> the Torts Crisis, 48 Ohio St. L.J. 329 (1987) 27, 29
B. R	ichard Young, Comment, <u>Medical Malpractice in</u> <u>Florida: Prescription for Chanse</u> , 10 Fla. St. U.L.Rev. 593 (1983)
Fred	<pre>C. Zacharias, <u>The Politics of Torts</u>, 95 Yale L.J. 698 (1986)</pre>

Note, The Florida Medical Malpractice Reform Act of 1975, 4 Fla. St. U.L. Rev. 50 (1976)
Other Authorities
Francis Bacon, <u>Essays</u> of <u>Judicature</u> (Mod.Lib.ed. 1955) 19
Francis Bacon, Novum Orsanum, Aphorism 46 (1620)
Alexander Bickel, The Least Dangerous Branch (1962) 18
Robert Bork, The Tempting of America (1990)
I.W. Blackstone, <u>Commentaries</u>
Guido Calabresi, A Common Law for the Age of Statutes (1982) 18
Benjamin N. Cardozo, The Nature of the Judicial Process 141 (1925)
R. Dworkin, <u>Law's Empire</u> (1986)
Alexander Hamilton, The <u>Federalist</u> Nos. 78-81
Plato, <u>The Republic</u>
Mortimer Rosen & Lillian Thomas, The Cesarean Myth (1989) 27
I.F. Stone, The Trial of Socrates (1988)
Lawrence H. Tribe, American Constitutional Law § 1-8 (2d ed. 1988)
25 Fla.Jur. 2d Family Law § 469 (1992)
25 Fla.Jur. 2d <u>Family Law</u> § 470 (1992)
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 869 (1979) 15
Robert Pear, <u>Health Clinics Cut</u> <u>Services as Cost of Insurance Soars</u> , N.Y. Times, Aug. 21, 1991

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this Answer Brief, Plaintiff/Petitioner, JAMES R. TANNER, will be referred to as "Petitioner" or "Petitioner Mr. Tanner". Defendant/Respondent, LAKELAND REGIONAL MEDICAL CENTER, INC., will be referred to as "Respondent LRMC." References to the Record on Appeal will be designated by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number.

Petitioner's brief addresses the question certified to this Court in his second point. While answer briefs should ordinarily follow the same outline as the initial brief, it seems most appropriate that the certified question be dealt with first. Whether the impact rule limits the application of any answer which might be given to the certified question will be considered secondly, and Petitioner's tag-on argument regarding the relation back doctrine will be considered last. Any other ordering unnecessarily sacrifices coherence in considering the issues presented.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Statement of the **Case** and Facts in the Petitioner's Initial Brief **does** not adequately apprise the Court of "the nature of the case, the course of the proceedings, and the disposition in the lower tribunal" with requisite completeness as to matters pertinent to this proceeding. See Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.2 **10(b)(3)**. Accordingly, Respondent LRMC presents this separate Statement of the Case and Facts pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure **9.210(c)**.

This case has a long tortuous history, with trips back and forth through the Florida Second District Court of Appeal and this Court. This litigation ensued on August 1, 1990, when the Petitioner and his wife, Phyllis Tanner ("Mrs. Tanner"), filed a medical malpractice action against Mrs. Tanner's treating obstetricians Ellie M. Hartog, M.D. ("Dr. Hartog"), Alberto Duboy, M.D. ("Dr. Duboy"), the physicians' professional association, and Respondent LRMC in connection with the stillbirth of Mrs. Tanner's fetus (R 1-22). Days later an Amended Complaint was filed wherein Mrs. Tanner sought damages individually and Petitioner sought damages individually and as the personal representative of the child's estate (R 23-45). According to the Amended Complaint, the doctors examined Mrs. Tanner on March 31, 1988, and then sent her to the hospital (LRMC) for testing. The following morning the fetus was delivered stillborn at the hospital. The Amended Complaint alleged that in light of the testing and Mrs. Tanner's condition, the doctors and Respondent LRMC were negligent in failing to promptly perform a delivery by cesarean section at a time when the child could have been saved. The Amended Complaint alleged that the Tanners neither knew nor should have known "that the

actions and inactions of the defendants fell below the standard of care recognized in the community" until December 29, 1989.'

All defendants moved to dismiss the Amended Complaint on several grounds including that the Tanners' claims, however worded, were for the wrongful death of a stillborn child for which there existed no cause of action (**R** 46-53, 56-57, 58-61, 62-63). The defendants also asserted that the medical malpractice statute of limitations had run on the face of the Amended Complaint. The trial court granted the motions to dismiss, holding that the Tanners' claims were barred by the statute of limitations for medical malpractice, that the Tanners failed to state a cause of action for the wrongful death of a fetus, and that Mrs. Tanner had disguised a personal injury claim for the wrongful death of a fetus and thus had not stated a cause of action (R 66-68). This dismissal was reduced to a final order (R 74-75) and the Tanners appealed to the Florida Second District Court of Appeal, which affirmed the trial court's ruling based upon the statute of limitations. Tanner v. Hartog, 593 So.2d 249 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992) ("Tanner I"). Because the court resolved the entire case on this issue, it did not address the issues regarding whether the complaint stated a cause of action. On rehearing, a question of great public importance was certified to the Florida Supreme Court on the statute of limitations. **Tanner y.** Hartog, 17 Fla.L. Weekly D433 (Fla. 2d DCA Jan. 31, 1992).

The Tanners' Firet Amended Complaint contained five (5) counts. Count I was *a count for negligence and alleged a direct cause of action on behalf of Mr. and Mrs. Tanner from the stillbirth and described it as "the death of the minor child, Jamee R. Tanner, II" (R 26). Count II was titled "res ipsa loquitur (negligence)" and stated the same allegatione alleged in Count I (R 27-30). Count III alleged a claim for wrongful death of a fetua (R 30-33). Count IV was titled "res ipsa loquitur (wrongful death)" and contained the identical allegations se Count III (R 33-36). Finally, Count V raised the same allegationa as Counts I through IV, but couched them in terms of a breach of contract (R 36-39).

On review of the certified question, this Court in <u>Tanner v. Hartog</u>, 618 **So.2d** 177 **(Fla.** 1993) ("Tanner II") quashed Tanner I with respect to when the statute of limitations began to run and reinterpreted <u>Nardone v. Revnolds</u>, 333 **So.2d** 25 **(Fla.** 1976) to ease its sometimes harsh results. Tanner II held that "the knowledge of the injury as referred to in the rule as triggering the statute of limitations moans not only knowledge of the injury but also knowledge that there is a reasonable possibility that the injury was caused by medical malpractice. "618 **So.2d** at 181. This Court then remanded the rest of the case to the Second District Court of **Appeal** for a determination as to whether the complaint stated a cause of action under the law of this state.

On remand, the Second District Court of **Appeal** reversed the order dismissing the Amended Complaint on the statute of limitations to comply with this Court's mandate. Regarding the stillbirth, the Second District Court of Appeal "reversed that portion of the trial court's order which dismisses the complaint for failure to state a cause of action for personal injury to the mother. Tanner v. Hartog, 630 So.2d 1136 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993) (emphasis supplied) ("Tanner III"). The Court also went on to "affirm that portion of the trial court's order finding that the complaint fails to state a cause of action for the wrongful death of the fetus." 630 So.2d at 1136. The Tanners subsequently sought review of the Second District Court of Appeal's decision by this Court, which declined to accept jurisdiction. Tanner v. Hartog, 632 So.2d 1028 (Fla. 1994) ("Tanner IV"),

After this Court denied review, the Tanners on May 26, 1994 filed in the trial court a Second Amended Complaint in four counts (R 108-114). In Count I, Mrs. Tanner asserted a claim for negligent stillbirth and the destruction of her living tissue. In Count II, Petitioner Mr.

Tanner attempted to duplicate Mrs. Tanner's claim, asserting that the fetus was also his living tissue. Counts III and IV were respective loss of consortium claims. The Defendants moved to dismiss the Second Amended Complaint on several grounds (R 116-121, 122-126, 127-133). As to Petitioner Mr. Tanner's direct cause of action for the stillbirth (Count II), the defense maintained that Florida does not recognize a father's cause of action for a stillbirth, and that Count II failed to allege any discernable bodily injury or discernable physical impairment to Mr. Tanner which would allow him to recover any purported mental pain and suffering in the absence of any "physical impact" (R 118-119, 124-125, 128-130). As to Mrs. Tanner's loss of consortium claim (Count III), the Defendants moved to dismiss on the grounds that she could not maintain a loss of consortium action where Mr. Tanner has no legal cause of action because such actions are derivative in nature (R 119, 125, 129). Last, as to Petitioner Mr. Tanner's loss of consortium claim (Count IV), the Defendants moved to dismiss on the grounds that this claim was barred by the statute of limitations because it was never pled in any of the previous complaints and was "beyond the scope of the mandate" (R 119, 125, 130).

After a hearing, the trial court on September 26, 1994, dismissed the Second Amended Complaint (**R** 134-136). The trial court specifically rejected the concept that the fetus was Petitioner Mr. Tanner's living tissue. In addition, the trial court dismissed Mrs. Tanner's loss of consortium claim "with prejudice" (**R** 134). The court ruled that:

Count III of Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint fails to state a cause of action for the loss of consortium by Mrs. Tanner against all Defendants because said cause of action is a derivative claim allegedly based on Mr. Tanner's claim for personal injuries. **Since** Mr. Tanner has no cognizable legal **cause** of action for personal injuries to himself, Mrs. Tanner has no derivative cause of action for loss of consortium.

(R 135).

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